

International Journal of Innovative Research and Reviews

ISSN: 2636-8919 Website: www.injirr.com

Research paper, Short communication, Review, Technical paper



RESEARCH ARTICLE

Biochemical Content Analysis of the Preparation in a Storage Container Excavated from a Grave in Daskyleion Ancient City

💿 Nazan DEMİR^{1,2*}, 💿 Yasar DEMİR¹, 💿 Kaan İREN², 💿 Özgün KASAR³

² Cosmetic Products Application and Research Center, Muğla Sıtkı Koçman University, 48000, Muğla, Türkiye

² Faculty of Science, Department of Archaeology, Muğla Suki Koçman University, 4800, Muğla, Türkiye

³ Center for Archaeological and Archaeometric Studies, Muğla Sıtkı Koçman University, 48000, Muğla, Türkiye

*Corresponding author E-mail: nazdemir@mu.edu.tr

ARTICLE INFO ABSTRACT Received : 10.07.2024 This study aims to shed light on the content of the remains found in an alabaster alabastron Accepted : 11.14.2024 that was excavated from T4 Tumulus in the Daskyleion Ancient City in the Ergili village of Published : 12.15.2024 the Aksakal Town of Bandırma, and is thought to have been used for the storage of essences or drug-like preparations. Daskyleion; the excavations carried out in the city, Keywords: which is thought to have hosted great civilizations such as Phrygians and Lydians and one Daskyleion of the centers of the Satrapal administration system established by the Persians in Anatolia, Alabastron dating back to 6th century BC, have unearthed remains from many different periods. The Catalase Lydian culture, which existed in the ancient city of Daskyleion, is famous for its cosmetics Superoxide dismutase and there was a concept of "Lydian cosmetics" that has survived to the present day. Peroxidase Research was conducted in this direction, based on the container found in the burial chamber. This study aims to investigate the content of organic residues found in situ in an alabaster alabastron during the excavations of Tumulus T4 (Koru Tumulus) at the ancient city at Daskyleion and to shed light on the burial customs of the period to which the tomb belongs. As a result of the analysis, it was concluded that the perfume left in an alabastron as a grave gift was of plant origin.

Contents		
1. In	troduction	43
2. M	aterials and Methods	44
2.1.	Sample Procurement	44
2.2.	Preparation of Homogenate	44
2.3.	Determination of Protein by Coomassie Blue Method	
2.4.	Ammonium Sulfate Precipitation	44
2.5.	Catalase and Superoxide Dismutase Studies	44
2.6.	Preparation of Sephadex G-25 Column	44
2.7.	Application of Proteins to Sephadex G-25 Column	44
2.8.	Determination of Catalase Activity	44
2.9.	Optimum pH Study of Catalase Enzyme	45
2.10.	Investigation of The Effect of Temperature on Catalase Enzyme	45
2.11.	Determination of Superoxide Dismutase (SOD) Enzyme Activity	45
2.12.	Optimum pH Study of Superoxide Dismutase Enzyme	45
2.13.	Examination of The Effect of Temperature on Superoxide Dismutase Enzyme	45
2.14.	Peroxidase Studies	45
2.15.	Purification of Enzyme by CM-Sephadex A50 Ion-Exchange Chromatography	45
2.16.	Determination of Peroxidase Enzyme Activity	
2.17.	Optimum pH study of Peroxidase Enzyme	45
Cito this an	tiala — Damie N. Damie V. Jean K. Kasan Ö. Diachamical Contant Analysis of the Demonstrian in a Stances Container Evoluted f	

Cite this article Demir N, Demir Y, İren K, Kasar Ö. Biochemical Content Analysis of the Preparation in a Storage Container Excavated from a Grave in Daskyleion Ancient City. *International Journal of Innovative Research and Reviews (INJIRR)* (2024) 8(2) 42-49 *Link to this article:* http://www.injirr.com/article/view/231



Copyright © 2024 Authors.

This is an open access article distributed under the <u>Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License</u>, which permits unrestricted use, and sharing of this material in any medium, provided the original work is not modified or used for commercial purposes.

	2.18	8. Examination of the effect of temperature on peroxidase enzyme	
3.]	Results	
	3.1.	Purification Enzymes	
	3.2.	Effects of pH on Protease Activity	
	3.3.	Effect of Temperature on Purified Catalase Enzyme	
	3.4.	Effects of pH on Superoxide Dismutase Activity	
	3.5.	Effect of Temperature on Purified Superoxide Dismutase Enzyme	
	3.6.	Purification of Peroxidase Enzyme	
	3.7.		
	3.8.	Effect of Temperature on Purified Peroxidase Enzyme	
4.]	Discussion	
5.	(Conclusion	
Re	eferer	nces	

1. Introduction

Daskyleion is an ancient city located within the borders of modern Ergili neighborhood of Bandırma, Balıkesir, in the region known as Mysia in ancient times. Founded in the 9th century BC, the city hosted Mysians, Phrygians, Lydians, Persians, Macedonians and Byzantines [1,2].

There are many tumulus tombs built for the elites of the city during the Lydian and Persian Periods. It is known that there are perfume samples in the consistency of ointment or cream placed in the containers of the period, especially in the tombs belonging to the elite and administrators of the city [3–5] One of these examples was found in a stone alabastron in Daskyleion. One of these in the ancient city, T4 tumulus, is a family tomb consisting of a burial chamber, antechamber and a dromos. Skeletal parts belonging to two men and a woman were found inside the room [6]. The remains of another man were found in the antechamber.

Tumulus T4, which was understood to have been built in the 5^{th} century BC, has the tomb architecture and burial gifts that we are familiar with from Lydian Tumuli. There are two marble klinai with decorated feet that we see in the tumuli of the Lydian Region in the tomb chamber (Figure 1).



Figure 1 Grave chamber of the T4 Tumulus

A wooden klinai was made in the tomb chamber and the third burial was placed here [7]. Traces of paint belonging to the purple shroud in which the corpse was wrapped are preserved on the marble klinai. Numerous alabastrons were found scattered throughout the tomb chamber and dromos, in whole and in pieces. In addition to the alabastrons,

prestigious tomb gifts such as lydions, Lydian type lekythoi, coins of Cyzicus and a rython made of quartz were left.

Alabastrons, which were understood to have been placed in perfume, were found in the T4 tumulus. One of these alabastrons, carved from a stone called alabaster, contained residues of the product it contained (Figure 2a-b) [8,9].



Figure 2 Alabaster alabastron and its content b. Drawing of alabastron

People have always had two basic desires within them in a process extending from the past to the present. One of these is the desire to be immortal and the other is the desire for eternal youth and beauty. In this direction, they have prepared various chemical mixtures, sometimes hoping that they would be a healing and sometimes a beauty elixir. Their devotion to these has reached the level of wanting them to be with them after death. Sometimes, they have also used some mixtures to ward off evil spirits and to be protected in some way after death.

In the Lydian Period, a cosmetic called *bakkaris* was mentioned, which was placed in alabastrons and lydions (Athenaeus, Deipnosophistae, 15.690e). It is known that the cosmetic called *bakkaris* was of plant origin and was made from the plant with the same name (Plinius, Naturalis Historia, 21.16.29-30). Although it is not known exactly which plant the Lydian perfumes were made from, some archaeometric studies have been conducted on perfume residues found in other centers. One of these studies is the analysis conducted on the sediments found in containers called lydions in the ancient cities Gordion and Sardis. In these analyses, it was determined that the residues in the lydion contained a mixture of ruminant animal fats and plant molecules [10]. In this study, the presence of CAT, SOD and POX enzymes was investigated on the residues found in the bottle, which was found during the excavations carried out in the Daskyleion Ancient City and was thought to have been used for the purpose of storing essences.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Sample Procurement

The sample used for the study was obtained from the residues found in a bottle that was found during excavations at the Daskyleion Ancient City and was thought to have been used for storing essences.

2.2. Preparation of Homogenate

The residues taken from different points in a bottle that was found during excavations at the Daskyleion Ancient City in the Ergili village of Bandırma's Aksakal Town and was thought to have been used for storing essences were crushed and pulverized. Then, it was washed several times with alcohol (5%) to remove possible bacterial contamination. After this process, it was washed with salt water to remove the alcohol in the environment. No fungi or bacteria were found as a result of the microscopic examination of the sample.

The pulverized sample (5 g) was treated with liquid nitrogen and mixed with 50 ml of 0.1 M phosphate buffer in a mixer and centrifuged at $6,000 \times g$ for 20 minutes. The homogenate was centrifuged and the precipitate was discarded [11].

2.3. Determination of Protein by Coomassie Blue Method

This method was developed by taking advantage of the fact that Coomassie brilliant blue G-250 dye gives a blue color of varying intensity in protein solutions of different concentrations. It was observed that the dye tends to bind especially to basic amino acids such as arginine and some aromatic amino acids such as tyrosine and tryptophan. Coomassie brilliant blue G-250 binds to proteins in phosphoric acid medium and the formed complex shows maximum absorbance at 595 nm. The sensitivity of the method is between 1-100 mg [12].

2.4. Ammonium Sulfate Precipitation

Ammonium sulfate precipitation was performed between 0% and 100% in the homogenate at 0-20, 20-40, 40-60, 60-80 and 80-100. The gram amount of ammonium sulphate used was calculated from the formula below.

Ammonium Sulfate Amount (Gram) = $\frac{1,77 X V X (S-So)}{3,54-S}$

2.5. Catalase and Superoxide Dismutase Studies

Catalase enzyme (H_2O_2 : H_2O_2 oxidoreductase E.C.1.11.1.6) is one of the oxidase enzymes that reduces or breaks down H_2O_2 and is a structural component of perixisomes [13]. Catalase enzyme found in plant sources consists of four heme-containing subunits and the molecular weights of the subunits are between 54 and 59 kDa, respectively [14]. The basic function of CAT is to prevent irreversible damage that may occur especially in membranes by removing hydrogen peroxide and a peroxide such as ROOH, which are synthesized in some stages of metabolism in the presence of molecular oxygen [15]. Because hydrogen peroxide is a potential source of singlet oxygen and hydroxyl radical [16]. CAT is a protective enzyme that catalyzes the conversion of hydrogen peroxide to water and oxygen, thus preventing hydrogen peroxide from damaging cellular compounds. If hydrogen peroxide is not broken down by CAT, it acts as a precursor to the hydroxyl radical, a very dangerous free radical for the body, and this radical causes permanent damage to the cell. CAT uses hydrogen peroxide as a substrate, both as an electron acceptor and electron donor [17–19].

Superoxide dismutase enzyme (superoxide oxido reductase, EC 1.15.1.1) is found in all cells that metabolize oxygen. It is an important defense against oxygen toxicity. The function of superoxide dismutase (SOD) is to protect aerobic organisms against the harmful effects of superoxide. It catalyzes the rapid dismutation of superoxide radicals into H_2O_2 and oxygen. SOD is an enzyme with very high catalytic activity.

2.6. Preparation of Sephadex G-25 Column

3g of Sephadex G–25 gel was taken and added to 90 ml, 25 mM pH=8.0 (4 °C) Tris-HCl buffer. The column (1.7x10 cm) was filled with gel and equilibrated with 25 ml, 25 mM pH=8.0 (4 °C) Tris-HCl buffer. The column was waited for one day to equilibrate.

2.7. Application of Proteins to Sephadex G-25 Column

1 ml of enzyme extract containing catalase and superoxide dismutase enzymes was applied to the column. Samples were taken from the column with 25 mM pH=8.0 (4 °C) Tris-HCl buffer. Protein samples were collected in 1 ml tubes and the amount of protein, catalase and superoxide dismutase enzyme activities were examined for each collected tube.

2.8. Determination of Catalase Activity

The method used for the determination of catalase (CAT) activity is the method applied by [20] based on Luck [21]. Activity measurement with this method is based on the principle of monitoring the absorbance decrease at 240 nm that occurs while H_2O_2 in the CAT activity measurement medium is converted to O_2 and H_2O [20].

For activity measurement, 1.475 mL of 103 mM KH₂PO4 buffer and 1.5 mL of 40 mM H₂O₂ substrate solution were placed in a 3 mL spectrophotometer cuvette and 25 μ L of enzyme extract was added. After the cuvette was placed in the spectrophotometer, its absorbance against the blank was read at 240 nm for 3 minutes at 1-minute intervals. In the measurements, the absorbance decrease per minute was calculated from the range in which the absorbance decreased linearly. The amount of enzyme that reduces the absorbance by 1 μ mol in 1 minute at 25 °C was accepted as 1 enzyme unit [22].

2.9. Optimum pH Study of Catalase Enzyme

For the optimum pH study, 40 mM H_2O_2 solution was used as a substrate and the phosphate buffer range from pH: 5.0 to 9.0 was studied. The results were shown in a table and graphed.

2.10. Investigation of The Effect of Temperature on Catalase Enzyme

The investigation of the effect of temperature on catalase enzyme was carried out with H_2O_2 substrate. It was studied at the optimum pH of the enzyme and at temperatures between 0-90°C. The desired temperatures were adjusted in an ice bath below room temperature and using a heated and circulating water bath above room temperature. The results are given in a graph.

2.11. Determination of Superoxide Dismutase (SOD) Enzyme Activity

Superoxide dismutase (SOD) activity is based on the spectrophotometric determination of the photochemical reduction reaction of nitro blue tetrazolium (NBT) to blue colored formazan by superoxide radicals by SOD enzyme [23,24].

The reaction mixture (3 mL); contains 50 mM KH₂PO₄ (pH: 7.8), 13 mM methionine, 75 mM NBT, 2 mM riboflavin and 0.1 mM EDTA. The color change intensity of NBT was read against the blank at 560 nm within 15 min. The blank consists of the same process without enzyme. 1 unit of SOD activity, the enzyme amount causing 50% inhibition of NBT reduction observed at 560 nm, was accepted as 1 enzyme unit and the values were presented as EU/g leaf [23,24].

2.12. Optimum pH Study of Superoxide Dismutase Enzyme

SOD enzyme activity was determined using buffers prepared at pHs ranging from 4 to 100. In activity determinations, the spectrophotometer was set to 560 nm and absorbance values were read and calculated.

2.13. Examination of The Effect of Temperature on Superoxide Dismutase Enzyme

In order to determine the optimum temperature of SOD enzyme, enzyme activity was examined between 0–100 °C. In activity determinations, the spectrophotometer was set to 560 nm and absorbance values were read and calculated. Water bath was used for high temperatures and ice bath was used for low temperatures.

2.14. Peroxidase Studies

Peroxidase (EC 1.11.1.7) is a monomeric heme-containing enzyme with a molecular weight between 32 and 45 kDa. Peroxidases use peroxide as an electron acceptor and oxidize a large number of donor compounds. Peroxides are widely distributed in nature and are expressed in eukaryotic and prokaryotic cells [25–28].

2.15. Purification of Enzyme by CM-Sephadex A50 Ion-Exchange Chromatography

4 g CM-Sephadex was transferred to 100 ml distilled water and incubated in a thermostatic water bath at 90°C for 5 hours to swell. The swollen gel was incubated in 0.5 N 100 ml cold NaOH for 1 hour and then neutralized with 0.5 N HCl. After the air was removed from the gel material and packed into a $5x30 \text{ cm}^2 \text{ x}$ cm column, it was equilibrated with 100 mM phosphate buffer (pH: 7.0). The buffer level on the gel was lowered to the gel level and the enzyme solution obtained from dialysis was applied to the column using an automatic pipette. Then, washing was performed with 10 mM phosphate buffer (pH: 7.0) and the washing process was continued until the pH and 280 nm absorbance values of the wash buffer added from the top and the eluates taken from the bottom became equal.

After the washing was completed, 250 ml of 100 mM phosphate buffer (pH: 7.0) was filled into the chamber of the gradient mixer connected to the column and mixed with a mechanical mixer, and 250 ml of 1 M NaCl prepared with 100 mM phosphate buffer (pH: 7.0) was filled into the other chamber opening to this chamber, and linear gradient elution was started with increasing ionic strength.

2.16. Determination of Peroxidase Enzyme Activity

Peroxidase (POD) activity determination is based on the principle of monitoring the absorbance increase caused by the colored compound, which is the product of the reaction in which guaicol and H2O2 are substrates, at 470 nm [29].

For activity measurement, 10 mL of substrate solution containing 100 mL of 0.1 M, NaH2PO4 (pH: 5.5) and 5 mM guaicol will be placed in the spectrophotometer cuvette, and 10 μ L of enzyme extract will be added. The absorbance increase at 470 nm for 5 minutes will be recorded at 1 minute intervals and the absorbance increase in the part where the absorbance increases linearly will be proportional to 1 minute. The amount of enzyme that increases the absorbance by 0.01 in 1 minute at 25 °C was accepted as 1 enzyme unit.

2.17. Optimum pH study of Peroxidase Enzyme

For the optimum pH study, pH was studied in the range of 3.0–9.0. 0.1 M acetate buffer was used for pH 3.0–4.5, 0.1 M phosphate buffer was used for pH 4.5–7.5, and 0.1 M Tris/HCl buffer was used for pH 8.0–9.0. The activity of the enzyme was measured spectrophotometrically in these buffer solution ranges and the findings were given in graphs.

2.18. Examination of the effect of temperature on peroxidase enzyme

Studies conducted to examine the effect of temperature on enzyme activity were studied at the optimum pH of the enzyme for each substrate and in the range of 0-80 °C. The desired temperatures were adjusted using a circulatory water bath. The enzyme solution was transferred as quickly as possible and activity measurements were made. The findings were given in graphs.

Determination of Molecular Weight by Gel Filtration Sephadex G100 column (3 x 70 cm) was prepared. The column was equilibrated with buffer (0.05 M Na₂HPO₄, 1 mM dithioerythritol, pH 7) until the absorbance at 280 nm became zero. Standard protein solution (bovine serum albumin, 66 kDa; egg ovalbumin, 45 kDa; pepsin, 34 kDa; trypsinogen, 24 kDa; β -lactoglobulin and lysozyme, 14 kDa) was added to the column. Purified protease enzyme was added to the separation column and then eluted under the same conditions. The flow rate was set as 20 mL/h throughout the column. The elution volume was compared with standard proteins. 3. Results

3.1. Purification Enzymes

The presence of catalase and superoxide dismutase enzymes on the residues found in the bottle found during the excavations carried out in Daskyleion Ancient City and thought to have been used for essence storage was investigated using ammonium sulfate precipitation and Sephadex G–25 ion exchange chromatography techniques. H_2O_2 was used as a substrate in determining the activity of the protein eluted from Sephadex G–25 column.

Table 1 Catalase purification process from residues and the obtained results

Steps	Volume mL	Activity EU/mL	Total A EU	Activity %	Protein amount (mg/mL)	Specific Activity EU/mg	Purification rate
Crude extract	70	0.055	3.85	100	1.98	0.028	-
40% (NH ₄) ₂ SO ₄	7	0.421	2.95	76.6	1.22	0.45	12.32
Sephadex G-25	5	0.170	0.85	22.08	0.08	2.125	75.89

Table 2 Superoxide dismutase	purification process	from residues	and the results obtained

Steps	Volume mL	Activity EU/mL	Total A EU	Activity %	Protein amount (mg/mL)	Specific Activity EU/mg	Purification rate
Crude extract	60	1,08	64,8	100	3,82	0,28	-
60% (NH4)2SO4	20	0.95	19	29.32	1.07	0.89	3.18
Sephadex G-25	10	0.61	6.1	9.41	0.10	6.1	21.79

The data regarding the results obtained using all purification techniques are given in Table 1 and Table 2. Ammonium sulfate fractionation, a widely used technique in enzyme purification, was used as the first step. Catalase enzyme was obtained from the crude extract at 40-60% (NH₄)₂SO₄ saturation. For superoxide dismutase enzyme, 60-80% (NH₄)₂SO₄ saturation was obtained from the crude extract. Catalase and superoxide dismutase activity peak enzymes were applied to ion exchange chromatography. Protein determination was performed in the obtained eluates by Bradford method and then the purification degree of both enzymes was calculated separately for these two steps. The purification degree of superoxide dismutase enzyme was calculated as 75.89%. The purification degree of superoxide dismutase enzyme was calculated as 21.79%.

The results of the purification of peroxidase by the threephase separation system prepared from the oleander flowers in optimized conditions are given in Table 2. 40% (w/v) ammonium sulfate saturation and in the 1:1.5 (v/v) homogenate: t-butanol ratio, the enzyme was purified from the mid-phase of the UFA system with an activity yield of 372,09% and purification coefficient of 1.064.

In the TPP system to efficiently collect the enzymes at the interface, studies were carried out in the presence of 40% ammonium sulfate and 1.0: 0.5, 1.0: 1.0, 1.0: 1.5, 1.0: 2.0 homogenate: t-butanol (v / v). After the process, the phases were carefully separated. The amount of protein was most observed in the medium phase [30,31]. The supernatants were discarded. The homogenate was brought to 40% (w / v) ammonium sulfate saturation and different amounts of t-

butanol (1: 0.5, 1: 1, 1: 1.5, 1: 2, v / v) were added. Phase separation at room temperature was expected to occur. In each medium and sub-phase obtained from the homogenate: t-butanol ratios, peroxidase activity and protein were determined and the phase with the highest yield and purification coefficient was determined. The highest activity was observed in the middle phase.

In this TPP system, while the ammonium sulfate saturation was 40% (w / v) and the homogenate: t-butanol ratio was 1: 1.5, the enzyme predominantly preferred to remain in the middle phase. The results are given in Table 3.

The activity-absorbance graph of the catalase enzyme purified from the residues by ion-exchange chromatography is shown in Figure 3.



Figure 3 Activity-absorbance graph of catalase enzyme purified from residues

The molecular weight of catalase enzyme purified from residues was determined as 56.0 kDa using gel filtration chromatography and compared with known standard proteins.

3.2. Effects of pH on Protease Activity

In order to determine the optimum pH, activity measurements were made in the range of pH 5–9. 0.1 M acetate buffer was used for pH 4–5, phosphate buffer for pH 6–7, and Tris-HCl buffer for pH 8–9. The optimum pH was found to be 5.5 as shown in Figure 4.



Figure 4 Effect of pH on the activity of catalase enzyme purified from residues.

3.3. Effect of Temperature on Purified Catalase Enzyme

Catalase activity of the enzyme purified from residue was determined in the temperature range of 0-90°C. The amount of activity against temperature change is shown in Figure 5. The temperature at which the highest activity measurement was taken was determined as 60 °C.



Figure 5 Effect of temperature on the activity of catalase enzyme purified from residues

The activity-absorbance graph of the superoxide dismutase enzyme purified from the residues by ion-exchange chromatography is shown in Figure 6.



Figure 6 Activity-absorbance graph of superoxide dismutase enzyme purified from residues

The molecular weight of superoxide dismutase enzyme purified from residues was determined as 34.5 kDa using gel filtration chromatography.

3.4. Effects of pH on Superoxide Dismutase Activity

Activity measurements were made in the pH 5–9 range to determine the optimum pH. 0.1 M acetate buffer was used for pH 4–5, phosphate buffer for pH 6–7, and Tris-HCl buffer for pH 8–9. The optimum pH was found to be 7.0 as shown in Figure 7.



Figure 7 Effect of pH on the activity of superoxide dismutase enzyme purified from residues.

3.5. Effect of Temperature on Purified Superoxide Dismutase Enzyme

The activity of superoxide dismutase purified from residues was determined in the temperature range of 0-100 °C. The amount of activity against temperature change is shown in Figure 8. The temperature at which the highest activity measurement was taken was determined as 50 °C.



Figure 8 Effect of temperature on the activity of superoxide dismutase enzyme purified from residues

3.6. Purification of Peroxidase Enzyme

The presence of peroxidase enzymes on residues found in a bottle that was found during excavations at Daskyleion Ancient City and was thought to have been used for essence storage was investigated using ammonium sulfate precipitation and CM-Sephadeks A50 ion exchange chromatography techniques. Guaicol and H2O2 were used as substrates to determine the activity of the protein eluted from the CM-Sephadeks A50 column.

Data regarding the results obtained using all purification techniques are given in Table 3. Ammonium sulfate fractionation was used in the first step. Peroxidase enzyme was obtained from the crude extract at 20-40% $(NH_4)_2SO_4$ saturation.

Enzymes with peak peroxidase activity were applied to ion exchange chromatography. Protein determination was performed in the obtained eluates by Bradford method and

Table 3 Peroxidase purification process from residues and the obtained results

then the purification degree of peroxidase enzyme was calculated separately for each step.

The purification degree of peroxidase enzyme was calculated as 47.13%.

Steps	Volume mL	Activity EU/mL	Total A EU	Activity %	Protein amount (mg/mL)	Specific Activity EU/mg	Purification rate
Crude extract	50	0,125	6,25	100	1,57	0,080	-
40% (NH4)2SO4	10	0,531	5,31	84,96	1,27	0,418	5,23
Sephadex G-25	5	0,452	4,52	72,32	0,12	3,77	47,13

The activity-absorbance graph of the peroxidase enzyme purified from the residues by ion-exchange chromatography is shown in Figure 9.



rigure 9 Activity-absorbance graph of peroxidase enzyme purified from residues

The molecular weight of catalase enzyme purified from residues was determined as 43.0 kDa using gel filtration chromatography and compared with known standard proteins.

3.7. Effects of pH on Peroxidase Activity

For optimum pH study, pH range was studied in pH 3.0– 9.0. 0.1 M acetate buffer was used for pH 3.0–4.5, 0.1 M phosphate buffer was used for pH 4.5–7.5 and 0.1 M Tris/HCl buffer was used for pH 8.0–9.0. Optimum pH was found to be 6 as shown in Figure 10.



Figure 10 Effect of pH on the activity of peroxidase enzyme purified from residues

3.8. Effect of Temperature on Purified Peroxidase Enzyme

Peroxidase activity of the enzyme purified from residues was determined in the temperature range of 0–80 °C. The amount of activity against temperature change is shown in Figure 11. The temperature at which the highest activity measurement was taken was determined as 40°C.



Figure 11 Effect of temperature on the activity of peroxidase enzyme purified from residues.

4. Discussion

The enzymatic properties and molecular characteristics of the residues analyzed from the bottle discovered in the Daskyleion Ancient City show intriguing parallels with known plant-derived enzyme preparations. The catalase enzyme's molecular weight of 56 kDa and its optimum pH (5.5) and temperature (60°C) are consistent with catalase enzymes reported in plant extracts, such as those isolated from Brassica species, which exhibit similar thermostability and acidic pH optima. Likewise, the superoxide dismutase enzyme, with a molecular weight of 34.5 kDa and an optimum pH of 7 and temperature of 50°C, aligns well with plant SOD enzymes, such as those found in Spinacia oleracea (spinach), which demonstrate comparable molecular weights and neutral pH activity ranges.

The peroxidase enzyme's molecular weight of 43 kDa, along with an optimum pH of 6 and temperature of 40°C, is indicative of plant-derived peroxidases such as those reported from Horseradish peroxidase (HRP), which share similar physicochemical characteristics. These results are compatible with the hypothesis that the residues originated from a preparation potentially derived from Baccharis species, a genus known for its antioxidant and enzymatic properties.

[9]

Moreover, the purification approach employed in this study, involving ammonium sulfate precipitation followed by ion exchange and gel filtration chromatography, mirrors methodologies widely documented in enzymology literature, further validating the robustness of the findings. These biochemical and molecular parameters contribute to a broader understanding of ancient bioactive formulations, suggesting that the preparation was purposefully optimized for specific enzymatic stability and activity, potentially for medicinal or preservative applications. Such findings emphasize the sophistication of ancient practices in harnessing plant biochemistry, as also evidenced in historical texts and previous studies of ancient herbal remedies.

5. Conclusion

Prof. Dr. During the excavations carried out in the Daskyleion Ancient City under the directory of Kaan Iren, the presence of CAT, SOD and POX enzymes was detected on the residues found in the bottle that was found and thought to be used for essence storage. In the purification of all three enzymes, firstly ammonium sulfate precipitation and then ion exchange chromatography were used. Their molecular weights were found with the help of gel filtration chromatography. In the studies conducted, the molecular weight of the catalase enzyme was determined as 56 kDa, optimum pH as 5.5 and optimum temperature as 60 °C; for the superoxide dismutase enzyme, optimum pH as 7, optimum temperature as 50 °C and molecular weight as 34.5 kDa; for the peroxidase enzyme, molecular weight as 43 kDa, optimum temperature as 40 °C and optimum pH as 6. The data obtained are compatible with an herbal preparation which is possibly originated from bakkaris.

References

- [1] İren K, Yıldızhan H. "Pers Daskyleionu: Güney Marmara Bölgesi'nde bir Satraplık Merkezi", K. İren, Ç. Karaöz & Ö. Kasar (eds.) içinde, Persler Anadolu'da: Kudret ve Görkem. İstanbul: Yapı Kredi Kültür Sanat,. İren K, Karaöz Ç, Kasar Ö, eds. (2017):332– 350.
- [2] Bakır T. Daskyleion: Balıkesir'in Eski Çağlardaki Valilik Merkezi. Balıkesir Balıkesir Valiliği; (2011).
- [3] Gürtekin-Demir G. "Antik Dönemin Ünlü Lydia Kozmetik ve Tıbbi Markası: 'Bakkaris' ve Lydionlar", C. Atila, M. Karakurt & G. E. Erginer (eds.) içinde, Antik Çağ'dan Günümüze Parfüm. In: Lydionlar" CA, Karakurt M, Erginer GE, eds. Ankara Myrina Yayınları (2022):63–77.
- [4] Civelek A. Antik Çağ'da Parfüm. Arkeoloji ve Sanat (2019) 162:41–50.
- [5] Greenewalt CH. Lidya Kozmetiği", Lydialılar ve Dünyaları. İstanbul Yapı Kredi Yayınları; (2010).
- [6] Özdemir K v. Koru Tümülüsü İskeletlerinin Osteobiyografilerinin Element Analizi ile İncelenmesi". Gaziantep Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi (2018) 17(3):740–760.
- [7] Yaman B, Akyol A, A. A, Ç. Daskyleion Kazısı Karbonize Ahşap Buluntularının Anatomik Teşhisi". Arkeometri Sonuçları Toplantısı; (2013).
- [8] Kasar Ö. Daskyleion'da Görülen Mezar Tipleri ve Ölü Gömme Gelenekleri", içinde Antik Çağdan Cumhuriyete Bandırma ve Yakın

Çevresi Tarihi. In: ed., ed. Ulaş Töre Sivrioğlu 2018 (2018):57–73. İren K. Daskyleion Tümülüslerine Çarpıcı bir Örnek: Koru

- Tümülüsü, Aktüel Arkeoloji. Aktüel Arkeoloji (2012) 25:73–75.
 [10] Craig TJ. Molecular Taphonomy: An Experimental and Empirical Study of Archaeological Ceramic Residues from Central and Western Turkey, Phd. Armidale, NSW University of New England;
- [11] Demir Y, Nadaroğlu H, Demir N. Purification and some properties of carbonic anhydrase from Elephas trogontherii (steppe elephant)
- bone. Indian Journal of Geo-Marine Sciences (2007) 44(4).
 [12] Bradford MM. A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. Analytical Biochemistry (1976) 72(1–2). doi:10.1016/0003-2697(76)90527-3.
- [13] Halliwell B, Gutteridge JMC. [1] Role of free radicals and catalytic metal ions in human disease: An overview. *Methods in Enzymology* (1990) 186:1–85. doi:10.1016/0076-6879(90)86093-B.
- [14] Eising R, Trelease RN, Ni W. Biogenesis of catalase in glyoxysomes and leaf-type peroxisomes of sunflower cotyledons. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics* (1990) 278(1):258–264. doi:10.1016/0003-9861(90)90256-X.
- [15] Keha EE, Küfrevioğlu Öİ. Biyokimya, muhtelif kısımlar. Şafak yayınevi (1997) 36.
- [16] Aebi H. [13] Catalase in vitro. In: (1984):121–126.
- [17] Lanir A, Schejter A. On the Sixth Coordination Position of Beef Liver Catalase. FEBS Lett (1975) 55(1):254–256,.
- [18] Jones GL, Masters CJ. On the comparative characteristics of mammalian catalases. *Biochemistry and molecular biology* (1976) 55(4):511–518 1976.
- [19] Robertson DE. Catalases. : USP No: 20040005655 (2004).
- [20] Havir EA, McHale NA. Biochemical and Developmental Characterization of Multiple Forms of Catalase in Tobacco Leaves. *Plant Physiology* (1987) 84(2):450–455. doi:10.1104/pp.84.2.450.
- [21] Lück H. Catalase. In: Methods of Enzymatic Analysis. Elsevier (1965):885–894.
- [22] Gong Y, Toivonen PMA, Lau OL, Wiersma PA. Antioxidant system level in "Braeburn" apple is related to its browning disorder. *Botanical Bulletin of Academia Sinica* (2001) 42(4).
- [23] Agarwal S, Pandey V. Antioxidant Enzyme Responses to NaCl Stress in Cassia angustifolia. *Biologia plantarum* (2004) 48(4):555– 560. doi:10.1023/B:BIOP.0000047152.07878.e7.
- [24] Yordanova R. Antioxidative enzymes in barley plants subjected to soil flooding. *Environmental and Experimental Botany* (2004) 51(2):93–101. doi:10.1016/S0098-8472(03)00063-7.
- [25] Miranda M., Magri M., Navarro del Cañizo A., Cascone O. Study of variables involved in horseradish and soybean peroxidase purification by affinity chromatography on concanavalin A-Agarose. *Process Biochemistry* (2002) 38(4):537–543. doi:10.1016/S0032-9592(02)00166-8.
- [26] Soda I, Hasegawa T, Suzuki T, Ogura N. Purification and Some Properties of Peroxidase from Kiwi fruit. *Agricultural and Biological Chemistry* (1991) 55(6):1677–1678.
- [27] Belcarz A, Ginalska G, Kowalewska B, Kulesza P. Spring cabbage peroxidases – Potential tool in biocatalysis and bioelectrocatalysis. *Phytochemistry* (2008) 69:627–636.
- [28] Vitali A, Botta B, Monache GD, et al. Purification and partial characterization of a peroxidase from plant cell cultures of Cassia didymobotrya and biotransformation studies. *Biochemical Journal* (1998) 331(2):513–519. doi:10.1042/bj3310513.
- [29] Angelini R, Federico R. Histochemical Evidence of Polyamine Oxidation and Generation of Hydrogen Peroxide in the Cell Wall. *Journal of Plant Physiology* (1989) 135(2). doi:10.1016/S0176-1617(89)80179-8.
- [30] Dennison C, Lovrien R. Three Phase Partitioning: Concentration and Purification of Proteins. *Protein Expression and Purification* (1997) 11(2):149–161. doi:10.1006/prep.1997.0779.
- [31] Pike RN, Dennison C. Protein fractionation by three phase partitioning (TPP) in aqueous/ t -butanol mixtures. *Biotechnology* and *Bioengineering* (1989) 33(2):221–228. doi:10.1002/bit.260330213.